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"DESCRIBE ,THE PRESENT AND:ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL ARPPEARANCE
The 1913 4-story Custom and Court House blends elements of Spanish
Colonial and classical revival styles in a reinforced concrete structure with
stucco exterior walls. The space enclosed, including basement is 57, 000
sq. ft. The building occupies one-half square block with a 160 ft. front
facade on F St., the sides extending 76 ft. along Union and State Sts. Two
5-story square towers with chamfered corners project slightly beyond the
main rectangular mass on the F St. side; between the towers are steps to
a raised 2-story portico supported on columns with Ionic capitals. Two
wings extend from the main mass to the south toward G St. The symmetri
cal plan is in the shape of a double T with the continuous horizontal bar the
front facade on F St., the two wings the verticals. Front and side entrancés
led originally to a public lobby thelength of the facade.

CONDITION

Roofs are hipped on the main block and on the wings are gabled; tile is laid
on sheet metal. Floors are concrete slab. The first floor has round
arched windows and doors, screened with iron grilles or double gates.
Ornamental brackets of Spanish Colonial design projecting from walls at
side entrances and portico support lamps.

Before 1936 the following changes were made: the U-shaped court between
the wings was filled in with a 1-story flat-roofed structure; the L-shaped
court on the east was filled in with a structure projecting 6 ft. beyond the
existing side wall; is one story with flat roof. The second story court room
windows on the south were closed over. Loading docks were added.

Subsequent changes were: three new courtrooms accommodated to existing
spaces, offices repartitioned. The lobby was partitioned off into offices,
leaving a narrow hall at the main entrance to an interior corridor.

Traces of the original interiors remain in the east tower where there is an
open stair well to the fifth level. The floor covering here is verde granite
laid between strips of red marble, plinths are dark verde marble, treads
and risers of the stairs are gray granite. The only remaining pilasters
typical of the interiors are here; they have Tuscan capitals and egg and darnt
detail. On the coffered plaster ceiling is a band of egg and dart molding.

Originally, the only courtroom was on the second floor; pilasters and
coffered ceilings were intact until remodeled in 1968 following a fire. The
previous year, 1967, two courtrooms were built on the first floor in exist-
ing spaces. All four courtrooms are now wood paneled. Most ceilings havg
been furred down and acoustical tile applied; floor coverings are green
terrazzo, composition tile or carpeting.

In 1971 and 1972 two annexes on the south extended the facility to G St.
These are one-story structures (except for a 2-story portion of Annex A)
used for courtrooms; the area is 25, 000 sq. ft. Construction is of steel-
framed sandwich panels.
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The only remaining classical revival facade in San Diego is that of the

1913 Custom and Court House. Of significance is the skillful blending of
the classical and Spanish Colonial revival styles, the latter seen in the
towers, arched openings, deép Yeveals, tile roofs and other Mediterranean
style features.

The outstanding classical element in the design is the 70-ft. long raised
portico between two projecting towers; concrete columns with Ionic capitals
support roof of the 2-story portico. Well-scaled arched openings on the
first floor, and rectangular ones without moldings on the second, are
elements of the fine architectural space. Originally the portico gave onto
a noble lobby, now lost through partitioning. Regional as well as Spanish
Colonial in character is the stucco covering ofthe reinforced concrete-
framed building.

The original plan, wholly symmetrical, combined the formal and informal;
the shape resembled a 2-stemmed T, the horizontal bar the front facade,
the stems the two wings to the south. The facade is monumental, the
wings (originally enclosing a U-shaped court and flanked by courts) were

The only architect listed on the plans is James Knox Taylor, Treasury
Dept. Supervising Architect. The working drawings ‘were approved by
Structural Engineer E. C. Heald on Mar. 11, 1911, The building was
completed in 1913 at a cost of $763, 000.

The Customand Court House figures in the history of the establishment of
a new town center in San Diego, a struggle culminating in 1871 in the
removal ''in the dead of night'" of county records to "New Town.'" The site
of the building was part of an addition commonly called '"Davis' New Town, "
surveyed in 1850 and approved by the alcalde the same year. Listed as one
of two surveyors was A. B. Gray, head of a surveying party for the U, S.
Bounds Commission to fix the boundary between the U.S. and Mexico;
another surveyor was Lieut. T. D. Johns who had come to San Diego to
select a site for an army barracks and was persuaded to locate it in New
Town. The square block chosen for the barracks was in 1908 turned over
by the War Dept. to the Dept. of the Treasury for the sum of $15,000. By
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U.S. Court House, San Diego, California

8. Significance con't

the time plans for the Custom House were drawn San Diego city and county
offices occupied land adjoining the site, the former town center having
been abandoned.

The lack of critical attention given the building is due to a taste developed
in San Diego for purer Spanish Colonial styles, first through Irving Gill's
now famous 1906-1913 buildings in a severe style closer to the Franciscan
Missions; then the same year the Custom House was completed (1913)
Bertram G, Goodheu was planning the California Building in Balboa Park in
the more ornate Spanish Colonial Churrigueresque style. The mixed
classical and Spanish Colonial revival style Custom House received appre-
ciation late, and by that time it had suffered damage to plan and destruction
of interiors. The fabric of the building is sound, and front and west facades
in their original state, and the lobby is recoverable. To restore the lobby
is to return to the public a fine public space of architectural significance.
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U.S. COURT HOUSE (U.S. CUSTOM AND COURT HOUSE) 1913
325 W, F St., SAN DIEGO, CAL. 04 .
LAT. 320 42' 54799
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